STATE OF WISCONSIN
IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP174-CR

FILED

MAY 16 2022

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL T. DEWEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID R. KARPE
Wisconsin State Bar Attorney No. 1005501
448 West Washington Avenue
Madison, Wisconsin 53703
(608) 255-2773

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err by denying the defense pretrial motion to dismiss due to vagueness?

The trial court found that there was sufficient notice to the defendant due to the nature of the charges.

The court of appeals upheld the trial court on this point.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court should grant review on this question in order to decide if there are limits on the structure of charging time periods in child sex assault cases.

2. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance of counsel by not objecting to the form of jury instructions with three extended non-continuous charging periods in each count?

The trial court found that there was no ineffective assistance of counsel because the law is unsettled on the question.

The court of appeals held that there was no prejudice,

and thus no ineffective assistance of counsel.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court should grant review on this question because there should be a declaration from the Court regarding whether divided charging periods in jury instructions vitiate jury unanimity.

3. Should the Court order a new trial in the interests of justice because the jury instructions contained plain and fundamental error?

The court of appeals held that it was restricted from considering discretionary reversal in these circumstances.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court should grant review on this question because the Court has greater powers of discretionary reversal and should exercise them.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The decision below, *State v. Dewey*, 2021AP174-CR (April 14, 2022), although not recommended for publication, will be citeable as an authored decision, even if it is not ordered published. The Wisconsin Supreme Court should grant review on the first question in order to decide if there are limits on the structure of charging time periods in child sex assault cases, which decision would have statewide application. On the second question, review is warranted because the Court should declare whether divided charging periods in jury instruction vitiate jury unanimity. Finally, on the third question, the Court should accept this case in order to exercise its greater powers of discretionary reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This was a direct appeal under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.30 of a sentencing after revocation in a criminal felony matter.

Statement of Facts

The facts as stated in the decision of the court of appeals are essentially correct. *See State v. Dewey*, 2021AP174-CR (April 14, 2022 slip op.), ¶¶3-9.

The court of appeals summed up the case like this:

Dewey was a father figure to two children during his relationship with their mother, from approximately 2002 to 2014. The older child, T., was born in 1999; the younger child, C., was born in 2003. Between 2002 and 2014, Dewey lived with the children and their mother at various times in different residences.

In October 2014, the two children reported allegations of sexual abuse by Dewey. In November 2014, the State filed a criminal complaint, followed by an information, charging Dewey with thirty-six sexual assault-related counts committed against the two children at various locations and times from 2005 through 2013. Counts 1-28 pertained to T., and counts 29-36 pertained to C. We will address the details

of the locations and charging periods for these counts in the discussion below.

Dewey filed a pretrial motion to dismiss most of the counts on the ground that the charging periods for those counts in the information were too long and disjointed to allow Dewey to prepare an adequate defense, in violation of his right to due process. Alternatively, Dewey asked that the circuit court order the State to more narrowly define the charging periods. The court directed the State to do so, and the State filed a first amended information that more specifically defined the charging periods for some of the counts. The court held a hearing and issued an oral ruling denying Dewey's pretrial motion based on the first amended information, for reasons that we will discuss in detail below.

A four-day jury trial was held in April 2016. The State filed the final, third amended information during trial, clarifying certain items that are not at issue on appeal. During the jury instruction conference towards the end of the trial, there was a brief discussion about the charging periods that would be read to the jury. The circuit court relied on the charging periods contained in the third amended information for the jury instructions and the verdict forms, and trial counsel did not object to the jury instructions or the verdict forms. The jury found Dewey guilty of all thirty-six counts, and he was sentenced on those counts of conviction.

In 2018, Dewey filed a motion for postconviction relief seeking dismissal of the six counts of repeated sexual

assault of a child as multiplicitous and violating Dewey's right to be protected from double jeopardy. The State did not object, and the circuit court granted the motion.

In 2020, with this court's permission, Dewey filed a second motion for postconviction relief. Dewey argued that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the jury instructions for counts 32 through 36 (the crimes against C.) on the ground that the three non-continuous time periods charged for each count failed to protect Dewey's right to a unanimous jury. The circuit court held a Machner hearing in October 2020. The court issued an oral ruling, followed by a written order, denying the motion in January 2021.

State v. Dewey, 2021AP174-CR (April 14, 2022 slip op.), ¶¶3-9.

The court of appeals affirmed the convictions, reasoning that “the charging periods in the information, considered together with the allegations in the criminal complaint, are reasonable and therefore provided adequate notice to satisfy Dewey's due process right to plead and prepare a defense,” *id.* at ¶12, and because Dewey “fail[ed] to show either that counsel's failure to object prejudiced his defense or that this is an extraordinary case warranting

discretionary reversal,” *id.* at ¶37.

The court of appeals thus affirmed the circuit court’s order denying postconviction relief. Mr. Dewey seeks review of that decision.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Should Grant Review as to Whether There Are Any Limits at All Regarding Time Charging Periods in Child Sexual Assault Cases.

Granting review will permit the Court to declare whether the notice requirement is ever violated in child sexual asst cases. The due process protections of notice should not be erased in child sexual assault cases, even if the Court views them through a “more flexible lens.” *State v. Schultz*, 2020 WI 24, ¶62, 390 Wis.2d 570, 939 N.W.2d 519, citing *State v. Hurley*, 2015 WI 35, ¶34, 361 Wis.2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174. (*Schultz* uses the word “lens.” *Hurley* does not.)

The Court recognized a right to charging imprecision

in sexual assault cases at least as far back as *Gutenkunst v. State*, 218 Wis. 96, 104, 259 N.W. 610 (1935) (one month period). In *State v. Sorenson*, 253, 421 N.W.2d 77 (1988), the Court upheld a *unitary* six week period of time.¹

The justification cited for this leniency is that the “vagaries of a child’s memory more properly go to the credibility of the witness and the weight of the testimony, rather than to the legality of the prosecution in the first instance.” See, e.g., *Hurley*, 361 Wis.2d 529, ¶34, citing *State v. Fawcett*, 145 Wis.2d 244, 254, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App 1988). In our case, this really is not good justification for the odd time gaps in some of the charges as well as the long time periods of alleged conduct contained in the charge. The most extreme example in our case is in counts 32-36, which, in the words of the court of appeals, is

1

Hurley had a charging period of five years, but there the offense of conviction was charged under Wis. Stat. § 948.025, Repeated Sexual Assaults of a Child, and specified that the defendant had assaulted the victim 26 times over that five year period. Section 948.025 is unambiguously a “continuing offense” requiring a jury finding of at least three separate assaults during the charged time period.

comprised of “three non-continuous periods of three through six months each.” *Dewey*, 2021AP174-CR, ¶17. To be clear, the charging periods for these counts begin January 1, 2010 and terminate December 31, 2011. That is a *two year period* with interruptions. This is such an extreme example, it should be examined by this Court for whether it should fall outside the exception.

The Court should consider whether the traditional seven-factor “reasonableness test” may not be sufficient in such an odd charging period to permit a finding that the charging period set forth is reasonable and that the defendant was “adequately informed of the charges against him.”²

² The factors of the reasonableness test are:
(1) the age and intelligence of the victim and other witnesses; (2) the surrounding circumstances; (3) the nature of the offense, including whether it is likely to occur at a specific time or is likely to have been discovered immediately; (4) the length of the alleged period of time in relation to the number of individual criminal acts alleged; (5) the passage of time between the alleged period for the

Even where a defendant is charged with a crime of such a horrific nature, s/he still has the right to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against them. It is dubious that counts 32-36 state offenses to which Mr. Dewey was able to plead and prepare a defense, and whether the convictions are a bar to another prosecution for the same offense.

There seems to be a judicial belief supporting the “flexible notice lens” that kids memories are considered so good as to place, but not as to time periods. *See e.g.*, Patricia Bauer *et al.*, “It’s All about Location, Location, Location: Children’s Memory Form the ‘Where’ of

crime and the defendant’s arrest; (6) the duration between the date of the [charging] and the alleged offense; and (7) the ability of the victim or complaining witness to particularize the date and time of the alleged transaction or offense. *Hurley*, 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶35. The reviewing court may also “consider any other relevant factors necessary to determine whether a criminal complaint and information provide adequate notice.” *Id.*, ¶36.

Personally Experienced Events,” 111 JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL CHILD PSYCHOLOGY 4,” December 2012 at 510-522. It is noted that the testing done in the Bauer study were children who were four years old and eight years old at the time of the study, not at the time of the past events.

This is not a wholly academic concern in this case, either. Mr. Dewey is currently facing charges in Rock County involving the same alleged victims involving time periods not totally distant from the ones here. *See State v. Dewey*, Rock County Cir. Ct. Case 2015CF437.

II. The Court Should Grant Review to Consider Whether a Jury Instruction Asking the Jury to Consider in a Single Count Three Non-continuous Periods of Three Through Six Months Each During a Two-Year Time Span Violates Constitutional Guarantees Against Double Jeopardy.

The Wisconsin Constitution guarantees the right to a unanimous verdict with respect to the ultimate issue of guilt or innocence. Wis. Const., Art. I, §§ 5 and 7; *Holland v. State*, 91 Wis.2d 134, 138, 280 N.W.2d 288 (1979).

The dates here are not “a set period of time.” The multiple acts are not all part of “one continuous criminal transaction.” *State v. Lomagro*, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 589, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983)

In order to convict, the jury should have been required to be unanimous at least as to which series of acts Mr. Dewey committed, even if it was not required to be unanimous as to a specific act. With these counts having such an extended and unusually divided allegation regarding dates of commission, the Court cannot be confident that the jury even agreed as to which series of acts was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Such unanimity would have been essential to a proper jury determination of guilt.

So long as a victim makes an accusation assault by one perpetrator, *over a set period of time*, the law can consider it as one continuous story with various chapters. *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 84, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). However, the dates here are not “a set period of time.” The multiple acts are not all part of “one

continuous criminal transaction.” *Lomagro*, 113 Wis. 2d at 589. The court of appeals concluded that such error would be harmless because the trial judge stated that had trial counsel objected to the jury instruction, the circuit court would have amended the charges to exclude gaps. This is speculative, since the objection was not made, but in any case would have created a two-year time period for counts 32-36, which still would have been insufficient to insure jury unanimity.

III. The Court Should Grant Review in Order to Consider Discretionary Reversal Due to the Faulty and Un-objected-to Jury Instruction

The Court should consider exercising its discretionary power of reversal because even if it was not ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to object to the instructions, there is still the glaring probability that the jury verdicts were not unanimous regarding the acts resulting in conviction and what the jury believed was proven. Under

Vollmer v. Luety, 156 Wis.2d 1, 11, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990), the Supreme Court has powers under Wis. Stat. § 752.35, that the court of appeals lacks to consider the interests of justice in the area of unobjected-to jury instruction. The Court should take a position on whether such divided charging periods pass muster under the Wisconsin Constitution.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Dewey respectfully requests that this Court grant review.