Filed 05-24-2022

## RECEIVED 05-24-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP174-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff -Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL T. DEWEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

# **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2796 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kumferle@doj.state.wi.us

#

#### INTRODUCTION

This case does not meet any of this Court's criteria for review.

The charging periods in this case were well within what this Court has recognized as permissible in delayed-reporting child sexual assault cases and were based on the dates the children lived in the various residences where they remembered being assaulted. The boys then testified to the types of assaults that took place in each home. Dewey's defense did not depend on the dates of any particular offense, and he was given adequate notice of the charges against him.

Furthermore, there was nothing improper about the jury instructions given in this case, nor is there anything exceptional about it that would warrant discretionary reversal.

In short, none of Dewey's issues raise any important or unsettled questions of law. This Court should deny his petition.

#### BACKGROUND

In October of 2014, Darren<sup>1</sup> brought his 15-year-old son, Terry, to the Monroe County Sheriff's Office. (R. 4:9.) He told detectives that Terry recently revealed that his mother Delia's former boyfriend, Michael Dewey, had been sexually assaulting him for years, at least 80 times spanning nearly his whole life. (R. 4:9–18.) Terry's half-brother, 11-year-old Corey, also reported being sexually assaulted by Dewey over 70 times, beginning when he was three or four years old. (R. 4:19–23.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State uses pseudonyms for the victims and their family members pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.86.

Based on the boys' disclosures, the events they could remember with specificity, and corroborating information from their mother about various places they had lived and when, the State charged Dewey with 36 crimes. (R. 4:1-9.) Incidents for which the boys could not remember any specific date the State charged alleging generally a one to two year timespan based on how old the boys reported they were during the assaults and where they lived at the time. (R. 4:1-9.)

Dewey moved to dismiss all but five counts on the grounds that the charging periods did not allow him to prepare a defense. (R. 25:4.) The State narrowed some of the date ranges but was unable to do so for others. (R. 37.) After applying the relevant factors stated in *State v. Fawcett*<sup>2</sup> and *State v. Hurley*,<sup>3</sup> the circuit court denied the motion to dismiss. (R. 264:5–14.)

Trial lasted four days. (R. 273; 274; 275; 276.) Terry, Corey, Delia, and Darren testified consistently with what they told police. (R. 81; 273:123–76; 274:36–100.) Dewey testified that the assaults never happened. (R. 275:114–81.) Dewey said he believed he was being set up by the boys' mother and her family because they did not like him, or it was possible the boys made it up on their own. (R. 275:169–71, 177–78.)

The jury found Dewey guilty on all charges. (R. 276:187.) Postconviction, Dewey renewed his claim that the date ranges alleged in the information were impermissibly broad and further contended that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the jury instructions on counts 32 through 36 because they alleged three separate date

4

 $<sup>^2 \</sup> State v. \ Fawcett, 145$  Wis. 2d 244, 250, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, ¶ 33, 361 Wis. 2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174.

ranges within a year rather than one continuous time frame. (R. 237:1–2.) After a *Machner* hearing, the court denied the motion. The court of appeals affirmed. Dewey seeks review.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. Established case law shows that the charging periods in this child sexual assault case were permissible.

Both this Court and the court of appeals have already addressed and explained, in several cases, that leeway is given to the State in determining date ranges in child sexual assault cases due to the unique characteristics of such cases. State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, ¶ 33, 361 Wis. 2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174; State v. Kempainen, 2015 WI 32, ¶ 4, 361 Wis. 2d 450, 862 N.W.2d 587; State v. Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 250, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988). Dewey's contention that this issue needs further clarification from this Court is thus meritless. (Pet. 10–14.)

A court assessing a challenge that the criminal complaint was too vague as to date range for the defendant to prepare a defense looks to seven factors. These are:

(1) the age and intelligence of the victim and other witnesses; (2) the surrounding circumstances; (3) the nature of the offense, including whether it is likely to occur at a specific time or is likely to have been discovered immediately; (4) the length of the alleged period of time in relation to the number of individual criminal acts alleged; (5) the passage of time between the alleged period for the crime and the defendant's arrest; (6) the duration between the date of the indictment and the alleged offense; and (7) the ability of the victim or complaining witness to particularize the date and time of the alleged transaction or offense.

Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d. at 253. A court may also consider any other relevant factors it finds appropriate. Kempainen, 361 Wis. 2d 450,  $\P$  4.

The State made a diligent effort to narrow the charging periods after Dewey's motion to dismiss, but the boys had been assaulted so many times over such a long period that they could not identify specific dates for most of the individual assaults and could only remember where they had occurred. (R. 264:5–7.) None of the charging periods was overly longthe longest was between August 1, 2006, and December 1, 2007, or about 15 months. (R. 81:2-3.) The charging periods were based on the dates the children lived at different residences at which they reported being assaulted, which gave Dewey adequate notice to prepare a defense given that he knew when he had lived at each residence with the children, and that he alleged that he had never sexually assaulted them at any time. (R. 266:4–15.) The dates finally alleged were based on the detective's discussions with the victims and were as narrow as the State could discern due to the age of the victims when the assaults occurred, the frequency of the assaults, and the time that had passed since the assaults began. (R. 264:5-6; 266:4-15.)

The circuit court properly applied the *Fawcett* factors and determined that the charging periods were as specific as the children were able to be under the circumstances. In other words, the circuit court applied the correct law and reached the correct conclusion. There is nothing here that would warrant this Court's review.

# II. There was nothing problematic about the three discrete date ranges given for counts 32 through 36, but Dewey is judicially estopped from arguing otherwise in any event.

Dewey's claim that this Court should take the case to review whether it was proper for the State to break up the charging periods for counts 32 through 36 into three discrete time spans between January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2011, during which Dewey lived at that particular residence, is likewise unpersuasive, for two reasons: (1) the State initially

6

charged those counts as one continuous time frame and Dewey objected on the ground that he did not live at the house for certain months over the charging period, meaning he should be judicially estopped from complaining that the narrowed time frame was impermissible now; and (2) any error in this regard was harmless. Corey clearly testified that all of the acts for which Dewey was convicted took place in that residence, and had Dewey successfully objected to the three separate date ranges, the State would have simply amended the information to return to a continuous charging period.

# III. Neither the jury instructions nor the verdict forms created any jury unanimity problem in this case.

Finally, there is no reason for this Court to address Dewey's claim regarding the verdict forms or jury instructions given in this case because the controlling case law shows that they are meritless. (Pet. 16–18.) There was no unanimity problem with the jury's instructions or verdicts in this case.

Dewey was charged with and convicted of six crimes against Corey: (1) repeated sexual assault of the same child; (2) first-degree sexual assault of a child under age 12 via sexual intercourse; (3) incest; (4) child enticement; (5) causing a child to expose his genitals; and (6) exposing Dewey's genitals or pubic area to a child, all committed between January 1, 2010 and June 10, 2010, or between November 9, 2010 and February 9, 2010, or between June 16, 2011 and December 31, 2011, in a residence on Hollister Avenue. (R. 81:7–9.) The State introduced evidence showing that Dewey repeatedly committed conduct constituting all five of the individual crimes against Corey multiple times when he was at the Hollister Avenue address; this was a continuous pattern of conduct. The fact that the charging period alleged only the discrete dates that Corey and Dewey lived in the Hollister Avenue residence and that those dates were not completely continuous, along with the fact that Corey could not testify with specificity as to when any individual assault occurred, is of no moment.

When the State, as it did here, introduces multiple instances of an identical type of conduct committed during the charging period—in other words, evidence that the defendant engaged in a continuous course of that conduct—to prove a single charge, there is no unanimity issue. State v. Molitor, 210 Wis. 2d 415, 565 N.W.2d 248 (Ct. App. 1997); see also State v. Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 595, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983). When a single count under a particular statute is charged<sup>4</sup> and evidence is introduced showing that the defendant committed the conduct described by the charge multiple times over the charging period in a continuing pattern, the jury does not have to agree on which specific act underlies the guilty verdict. Rather, the jury needs only to agree that at least once during the charging period the defendant committed the conduct constituting the crime. Molitor, 210 Wis. 2d at 420 ("[W]hen the charged behavior 'one continuous course of conduct,' the constitutes requirement of jury unanimity is satisfied regardless of whether there is agreement among the jurors as to 'which act' constituted the crime charged.") (citation omitted).

There is nothing in any of the statutes under which Dewey was found guilty that suggests the Legislature meant to prohibit the State from opting to charge them as a continuing offense, where the evidence warranted. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02(1)(b); 948.06(1); 948.07(1); 948.10(1); 948.10(1)(a). And the charging period was narrowed to the times Dewey and Corey were specifically in that particular

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Or, for that matter, multiple charges under the same statute that clearly delineate what type of conduct is the basis for the charge.

residence. The multiple assaults committed against the victim in Lomagro were committed at different times and in different places, but were still properly considered a continuing sexual assault. There is no reason for a different rule to apply here. And the law already recognizes that children, by nature, are far less capable of remembering specific dates and being able to pinpoint exactly when a particular event in a series of events took place than an adult. See State v. Sirisun, 90 Wis. 2d 58, 65-66 n.4, 279 N.W.2d 484 (Ct. App. 1979) ("A person should not be able to escape punishment for such a . . . crime because he has chosen to take carnal knowledge of an infant too young to testify clearly as to the time and details of such . . . activity.") Indeed, that is precisely the reason that specific dates are not required in prosecuting child sexual assaults. Hurley, 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶ 34.

In sum, there is nothing worthy of this Court's review that is raised by this case. The circuit court and court of appeals resolved Dewey's case applying long-standing case law that has already been established and refined by this Court. His petition for review should be denied.

# CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Dewey's petition for review.